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Oxford Mining Company 

Nathan Leggett 

544 Chestnut Street 

PO Box 427 

Coshocton, OH 43812-1209 

 

December 3, 2010 

RE: Notice of Intent to Sue For Failure to Properly Mitigate in Violation of Federal Water 

Pollution Control Act, Section 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. 1365(a)(1).  

This letter provides notice to Oxford Mining Company (“Oxford”) that at the expiration 

of 60 days from the date of this letter, the Ohio Environmental Council (“OEC”) intends to file 

suit against Oxford in federal district court for ongoing violations of Section 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. 

1365(a)(1), of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, commonly known as the Clean Water 

Act (“CWA”).  Oxford has failed to mitigate its filling of waters of the United States as required 

by its §401 Certification, and in violation of CWA Section 401 (33 U.S.C. 1341), and done so for 

multiple Certifications.   

LEGAL STANDARDS & VIOLATIONS 

Congress enacted the CWA “to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity of the Nation's waters.”
1
  CWA §404 (33 U.S.C. 1344) permits 

discharge of dredged or fill material only upon a permit issued by the Army Corps of 

Engineers (“Corps”).  Under CWA §401 (33 U.S.C. 1341), a federal agency, such as the 

Army Corps, cannot issue a permit or license for an activity that may result in a discharge 

to waters of the U.S. until the state or tribe where the discharge would originate has 

granted or waived §401 certification. 

 

In order to preserve surface water function, the CWA only permits the placement of fill 

material into a watercourse when compensatory mitigation is required.  In order to 

maintain the Act’s goal of no net loss of a waters function, mitigation must be performed 

concurrently with fill activities.  Significant lapses in time between fill activities and 

mitigation activities negatively impact water quality, and contravene the letter and spirit 

of the CWA.   

 

                                                           
1
 33 U.S.C. Section 1251(a). 
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Oxford applied for, and received, 401 Certifications from the Ohio Environmental 

Protection Agency (“OEPA”), for its New Lexington North, Cole, and Daron/Consol 

mines under Ohio EPA ID numbers 052293, 062548, 062560, respectively. 

 

OEC recently reviewed the OEPA Section 401 Water Quality Certification records.  

Upon review, the OEPA’s records do not contain required monitoring and reporting 

information for several Oxford Mining Company sites (sites described in more detail 

below).  On September 1, 2010, OEC sent a letter to Oxford requesting the company to 

provide the monitoring and reporting data, as described in the respective Section 401 

Water Quality Certifications, and any other documentation demonstrating that the 

mitigation construction has commenced and/or been completed.  To this date, Oxford has 

not responded to that letter.  It appears evident, therefore, that mitigation required under 

the respective Section 401 Water Quality permits has not been completed at these sites.    

 

 

1. New Lexington North project:  OEPA ID# 052293. Section 401 Water Quality 

Certification granted on March 3, 2006.   

 

This project consists of a 295 acre permit area in the McCluney Creek, Muskingum River Basin 

(HUC 05040004 020), Rush Creek, and Hocking River basin (HUC 05030204 020) Watersheds.  

The project consists of 4,399 linear feet total impacted stream length and 2.09 total acreage of 

impacted wetlands.   Compensatory mitigation was required as a condition of the CWA §401 

Certification, and the mitigation required is as follows: Stream mitigation: restoration of 4,765 

linear feet as described in the Application for an Individual USACE Section 404 Permit and Ohio 

EPA Section 401 Water Quality Certification dated May 2005 (revised October 2005) and Part 3, 

Reclamation and Operation Plans of the ODNR mining Permit Application; Wetland mitigation: 

restoration/mitigation of 5.66 acres in accordance with the above referenced documents; and 

Open water impoundment: creation of permanent open water/wetlands totaling 20.2 acres.  

Mitigation timing, according to the §401  certification, is required to occur following completion 

of each section of the mine per requirements of the ODNR mining permit. The mitigation 

monitoring period shall commence immediately following completion of mitigation construction 

and shall continue through a 5 year monitoring period.  

 

Violation 1:  Oxford failed to file the annual reports required by the Section 401 

Water Quality Certification granted it on March 3, 2006. 

 

Violation 2:  Oxford has failed to perform and complete compensatory mitigation as 

required by the Section 401 Water Quality Certification granted to it on March 3, 

2006. 

 

2. Cole project:  OEPA ID# 062548.  Section 401 Water Quality Certification granted 

on April 28, 2006. 

 

This project consists of 398-acre permit area located in unnamed tributaries of Stillwater Creek 

(HUC 05040001 170 040) and Tuscarawas River (HUC 05040001 180 020).  The project 
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consists of 5,331of total impacted stream length and .02 total acreage of impacted wetlands.   

Compensatory mitigation was required as a condition of the CWA §401 Certification, and the 

mitigation required is as follows: As mitigation for the impacts to 2,909 linear feet of intermittent 

streams and 2,422 linear feet of ephemeral streams, applicant is to restore, using natural channel 

design techniques, 3,084 linear feet of stream channel; the ephemeral stream channels are not 

being restored due to excess spoil displacement issues.  Mitigation timing, according to the §401 

Certification, is required to occur immediately following completion of stream mitigation 

construction and shall continue through a 5 year monitoring period.  

 

Further, specific reporting requirements in the 401 Certification for Start/end mining operations: 

OEPA must be notified in writing 2 weeks prior to commencement of construction and again 

upon completion activities; and Start/end mitigation construction: OEPA must be notified in 

writing 2 weeks prior to commencement of mitigation construction and again upon completion 

activities.  

 

 

Violation 1: Oxford failed to file the annual reports required by the Section 401 

Water Quality Certification granted it on April 28, 2006. 

 

Violation 2: Oxford has failed to perform and complete compensatory mitigation as 

required by the Section 401 Water Quality Certification granted on April 28, 2006. 

 

 

3. Daron/Consol project: OEPA ID# 062560.  Section 401 Water Quality Certification 

granted on August 2, 2006.   

 

This project encompasses a 1,815 acre permit area in the tributaries of Standingstone Fork in the 

Tuscarawas River watershed (HUC 05040001 160 010), river mile 4.68, and Tributaries of 

Brushy Fork in the Tuscarawas River Watershed (HUC 05040001 150 050) river miles 18.58 

and 19.60. The project consists of 16,849 linear feet of impacted stream length, and 27.81 total 

wetland acreage impacted.  The Compensatory Mitigation plan is proposed to be on-site and 

consist of reconstruction of 16,916 linear feet of streams, and 15.78 acres of wetland on site. 

 

Mitigation timing is required to occur as soon as practicable following completion of mining 

operations in an area.  The mitigation monitoring period was to commence immediately 

following completion of mitigation construction and shall continue through a five year 

monitoring period. OEPA must be notified 2 weeks prior to commencement of mining 

construction and mitigation construction.  The company should submit annual reports.  Within 

60 days of completion of construction of wetlands, the company must submit as-built plan and 

cross-section views of all wetlands.  

    

Violation 1: Oxford failed to file the annual reports required by the Section 401 

Water Quality Certification granted on August 2, 2006. 
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Violation 2: Oxford has failed to perform and complete compensatory mitigation as 

required by the Section 401 Water Quality Certification granted on August 2, 2006. 

 

Separately, each of these Violations is an unlawful act under a valid certification granted under 

Sec. 401 of the Clean Water Act, and fully enforceable under CWA Section 505(a), 33 U.S.C. 

1365(a).    

  

 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Upon completion of the sixty (60) day notice period, if the violation has not been satisfactorily 

resolved, the OEC will initiate a citizen suit pursuant to CWA Section 505(a), 33 U.S.C. 1365(a).  

The OEC demands that Oxford cease any further filing of the above referenced waters, and 

commence complete required mitigation.  If 401 Certification violations do not immediately 

cease and mitigation not completed, the OEC will seek damages and reasonable costs, attorney 

and expert fees, and any other relief deemed just and appropriate by the Court pursuant to 33 

U.S.C. 1365(d).  

PARTY GIVING NOTICE 

The Ohio Environmental Council is a non-profit organization dedicated to securing healthy air, 

land, and water for all who call Ohio home.  The OEC represents dozens of group and 

organizational members and over 3,000 citizen members across throughout Ohio.  The full name, 

address and telephone number of the party providing notice is: 

Ohio Environmental Council 

1207 Grandview Ave., Suite 201 

Columbus, OH 43212 

614-487-7506 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Trent A. Dougherty  

William T. Reisinger 

Attorneys for the Ohio Environmental Council  

1207 Grandview Avenue, Suite 201 

Columbus, Ohio 43212-3449 

(614) 487-7506 - Telephone 

(614) 487-7510 - Fax 

trent@theoec.org 

will@theoec.org  
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NOTICE PROVIDED TO 

 

Copies by certified mail: 

 

Lisa Jackson, Administrator  

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  

Ariel Rios Building 

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, D.C. 20460 

 

Eric H. Holder 

Attorney General of the United States 

U.S. Department of Justice 

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, D.C. 20530 

 

Chris Korleski, Administrator 

Ohio Environmental Protection Agency 

Ohio EPA - Director’s Office 

P.O. Box 1049 

Columbus, Ohio 43216-1049 

 

Nathan Leggett 

Oxford Mining Company 

544 Chestnut Street 

PO Box 427 

Coshocton, OH 43812-1209 


